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The Pocahontas Times Print Shop is housed in a building constructed about 
1900 for the express purpose of providing the newspaper, begun in 1882, with 
a home in the new county seat of Marlinton. The structure is simple in most 
every sense, yet it is a strongly-built unit with attractive lines. Long 
and low, the shop measures approximately 21 ! x 75 * (this includes a 15' shed- 
roofed section at the rear) and is only one story high. Its layout is 
equally unpretentious; the interior is divided into small rooms at front and 
back and a large, open work area in the center.

Entrance is through a door flanked by 2/2 double-hung sash windows. This 
door has an overlight, and a small opening is symmetrically above it in the 
gable. The north side includes five windows and a door, the south side two 
windows, and the west (rear) elevation has a door and window. Of note are 
the horizontal weatherboarding, the deep but plain cornice, the pilaster 
effect of the vertical corner pieces on the front, and the decorative work 
in the east gable.

What is unique about the print shop is what is located on the interior. 
In the large center room is the heart of the publication: the type, type­ 
setting desks, copy and lay-out areas, the new mechanical writer, receiving 
table, belt-driven paper folder, and, of course, the belt-driven flat-bed 
press (see diagram on continuation sheet). Much of the type and devices 
associated with it date from the early twentieth century, and both the paper 
folder and press were new installations around 1911.

The folder was manufactured by The Sidney Folder Company of Sidney, Ohio, 
under patent of May 16, 1893. It was called "The Perfect Junior" and was 
designed especially for use with a flat-bed, common cylinder press. Portability 
allows the folder to be moved close to the press for optimum operation and to 
be placed out of the way when not in use. The press is a hand-fed, flat-bed 
model manufactured by The Babcoek Printing Press Manufacturing Company of New 
York under patents of September 26, 1882, and June 17, 1890. Its main printing 
cylinder is driven by gears which rotate under the pressure of endless belts. 
The press prints one side of cut newsprint in each cycle, so the printed pages 
must be turned and sent through again to receive type on the reverse side.

The building which houses the Pocahontas Times is little changed since 
construction, and most of its furnishings date from the first quarter of the 
twentieth century. What is more, the main elements of the process used in 
publishing the newspaper date from the late nineteenth and early twentieth 
centuries, and the machinery used is basically that which has printed the 
Times since about 1911.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Pocahontas Times has been an institution in southeastern West Virginia 
since its first publication in 1882. As a primary mass communications source in 
Pocahontas County, the Times has carried on a tradition in news dissemination that 
extends beyond what is published to include the method of publication. Produced, 
for the most part, by machinery dating from the early twentieth century, the 
newspaper has the added distinction of largely being set by hand.

The Pocahontas Times is the only newspaper to have been published in Pocahontas 
County, West Virginia, for any length of time. The first number dates from May 10, 
1882, and was produced by James "Buck" Canfield and Hezekiah B. Marshall in an 8-page 
quarto, five-column format at Huntersville, then the county seat. The first press 
used is said to have come from Wood County (where it published the Volcano Liberator) 
via Randolph County (where it produced the Randolph Enterprise).

In 1892 the Price family, under the guidance of patriarch Reverend William T. 
Price, bought the newspaper and continued at Huntersville until 1900, when the 
operation was moved to the new town of Marlinton, which had been named county seat. 
With the completion of a railroad line north from Ronceverte and south from Durbin 
in 1901, the lumber industry of the area opened up, and the Times enjoyed a 
prosperous half century. The Prices have published the paper since, and each in 
turn has been provided the opportunity for advanced education through means obtained 
from the family operation.

Most prominent of the publishers was probably Calvin, "the grand old man of 
weekly newspapers," who brought wide popularity to the paper during the more than 
fifty years he kept his subscribers informed. Since 1957, Mrs. Jane Price Sharp, 
Calvin's daughter, has been editor-publisher, and she continues the Times in its 
traditional manner.

Flat-bed presses, hand-set type, cut newsprint and belt-driven paper folders 
are reminiscent of an era in publishing long since gone from most of the United 
States. In Marlinton, West Virginia, however, not only do the press and paper folder 
date from the pre-World War I era, even a number of the type cases, much of the 
type and several work stools and desks hark back to the timber boom, railroad heyday 
and log drives on the Greenbrier River which brought the Pocahontas County seat here 
from Huntersville. The following commentary provides a detailed explanation of the 
process used in publication of the Pocahontas Times, especially emphasizing the 
flat-bed press and paper folder:

The compositors (type-setters) sit on high stools and work at tall
desks (the desks date from about 1901). Each desk is topped with a wooden
tray (called a case) that contains 50 to 150 compartments for the various
sizes and kinds of type and spacers.

Articles to be set to type are given to the type-setter, and at her
(the entire operation is carried out, for the most part, by women) desk
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she begins the composition. Each letter and spacer is selected from the 
case and placed in a palm-sized, hand-held metal tray called a stick. 
When the stick has been filled, it is placed in a larger metal tray 
called a galley.

As the columns are completed or the galleys filled, they may be 
tested for errors by a trial print on paper in the galley proof press. 
This is a small, roller-and-tray press in which the type is inked by a 
hand brush and the paper is pressed upon the galley by the weight of a 
rolling-pin shaped press.

These proven galleys then go to the lay-out tables where they are 
assembled in large blocks of type to print whole pages. Each page of 
type is then locked tight into a rectangular metal frame called a chase. 
Two chases are wedged very tightly on the flat bed of the press (in use 
since 1911). From this position they print two pages on one side of a 
sheet of paper. A newspaper is thus said to have been "put to bed" and 
"the press is ready to roll." At this point in the process, proof may 
again be made by rolling the press once through its cycle by use of the 
hand wheel.

After the two chases have been wedged upon the bed, the press is 
started. Originally, power was provided by a steam engine located nearby, 
but now the press is driven by a small electric motor. Force is delivered 
by a set of three endless belts and six wheels so graduated as to control 
speed.

As the cylinder revolves, the sheet of paper (cut paper rather than 
newsprint rolls) is fed into a row of clips on its surface that holds the 
paper in place through the printing arc. As the cylinder moves the paper 
toward the bottom of the cycle, the flat bed with the chases of print is 
moved by gears toward the ink rollers. These rollers are located just 
in front of the junction of the bed and the cylinder. As the chase comes 
from under the ink rollers, the type and the paper on the cylinder come 
together under carefully chosen pressure, and the image of the letters 
is impressed on the newsprint. The continued revolution of the cylinder 
carries the printed sheet to the guide wheels which are located across 
the width of the press.

The "to-and-fro" bed moves "to" and under the cylinder to print one 
side of the paper. Then, as the cylinder continues through its cycle, 
the bed makes its "fro" move back under the ink rollers and to its original 
position at the front of the press. The cycle is repeated about 5200 times 
each week (approximately five hours of operation) to produce the front 
pages needed for the subscription list.

When the printed sheet reaches the guide wheels it is released by 
the cylinder and guided onto the flapper. The flapper, similar to the cra­ 
dle or frame of a scythe, pivots the flapper bar and places the sheet of
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paper, printed side up (it is printed only on one side at a time), on a 
table.

If the other side of these pages is to be printed by this press, the 
stacked sheets are turned over and placed on the feeding shelf above the 
cylinder, and the printing process is repeated. If the pages in this cycle 
are to be folded, the flapper is removed from its bar, and the paper folder 
(purchased about 1910) is moved to its place at the back of the press and 
fastened near the flapper bar.

Working in synchronization, the receiving arms of the folder reach 
to the guide wheels to accept the printed sheets as they come off the 
cylinder. At the folder, the printed pages are drawn sideways across a 
top layer of rollers to receive a middle fold. A blade, with an arm at 
each end, descends across the middle of the width of the sheet and starts 
it down between two rollers that make the first fold. The second folding 
is in the manner of the first, and the twice-folded sheet drops into a 
basket from which it is taken ready for distribution.
This basic operation has been practiced at the Times since its inception in 

1882. Improvements have been made, of course, but the process is little changed 
since the printing press and paper folder were purchased around 1910. Problems do 
exist, however, and because of a difficulty in obtaining a steady supply of cut 
(rather than roll) newsprint and the need and demand for diversity in advertising, 
only two pages (and at times only one) of each edition are printed on the old press 
Editor-publisher Mrs. Sharp promises, though, that at least the front page will 
always be produced in the custom of the weekly hand-set Pocahontas Times.


